IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

	CASE NO.: SC06-1903
STEPHEN SMITH,	
Appellant,	
vs.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee/	
APPELLAN	T'S INITIAL BRIEF

On direct review from a decision of the Circuit Court of the

Twentieth Judicial Circuit

RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ. RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886 P.O. BOX 568005 ORLANDO, FL 32856-8005 (407) 841-7676

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was indicted on December 3, 2003, along with Dwight T.

Eaglin (lower court case no. 03-1526) and Michael Jones (lower court case no. 03-1527) for two counts of first degree murder for the deaths of Darla K. Lathrem and Charles B. Fuston, which were committed on June 11, 2003 [R. 1].

It was alleged that the defendant was a prisoner in Charlotte Correctional Institution when Lathrem, a correctional officer, and Fuston, a fellow prisoner, were killed during an escape attempt. The State eventually entered a nolle prosequi against the defendant on count two for the death of Charles B. Fuston [R. 3758, 3798; Tr. 3-4].

Co-defendant Dwight T. Eaglin went to trial first and was convicted and sentenced to death. Eaglin was the one who actually killed both victims [R. 4759; Tr. 401-403]. He killed them with a sledgehammer. It was alleged that the defendant was an accomplice, but the State never claimed that the defendant actually struck any type of blow on either victim. Co-defendant Michael Jones was sentenced to life imprisonment.

CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES TO FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY SCHEME

The defense moved to declare Florida's death penalty scheme unconstitutional under *Ring*, *Apprendi* and related constitutional provisions [R. 123; 4438, 4515-17]. The trial court denied the motion [R. 350]. The defense requested that the jury be required to make a unanimous finding of death and as to the existence of the underlying aggravating factors in the penalty phase [R. 3678, 4515-17]. The trial court denied the motion [R. 3867].

The defense also moved to declare Florida's lethal injection procedures unconstitutional [R. 3644, 4528]. The trial court ruled that the motion was "not timely" and refused to consider it because it was pre-trial, and the case was not at the point of an execution [R. 3857, 4528-29].

The trial attorney stated that he did not want to waive the issue and stated on the record that he was going to present the judge with an order deeming the motion denied [R. 4529].

The defendant's attorney did not re-raise the issue after the guilt phase concluded. The issue was never considered by the trial court. The trial court reiterated in its sentencing order that it did not consider the defendant's challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedures [R. 3961-3962].

MOTION TO SUPPRESS INCULPATORY STATEMENTS

The defense moved to suppress four different statements the defendant made to law enforcement which detailed his participation in the crime and included a videotaped walkthrough of the crime [R. 1896, 3683, 4553]. The defense alleged that the statements were involuntary and a product of coercion because of the physical and psychological torment the defendant suffered at the hands of the prison guards as punishment for him allegedly killing a fellow guard.

The State sought admission of statements the defendant made to FDLE agents on June 12, 2003 (at Charlotte Correctional Institution), June 23, 2003 (at Florida State Prison), June 27, 2003 (at Florida State Prison), and July 31, 2003 (at Charlotte Correctional Institution) [R. 4556].

Charlotte Correctional Institution Officers Stephen Haszinger, Tommy Wood, Ursula Mimms, Ronald DeKeyser and Samuel Windlin testified that no one threatened the defendant, abused him, or made any promises to him in order to get him to confess [R. 4561, 4566, 4570, 4573, 4576].

FDLE Agent Steve Uebelacker testified that while at Charlotte Correctional Institution he read the defendant his Miranda rights and the defendant waived his rights freely and was not coerced in any way. The defendant never made any

complaints to him [R. 4580-83]. Agent Uebelacker testified that Miranda was also read when they were at Florida State Prison [R. 4585-89].

Agent Uebelacker said he first met with the defendant at 6:15 a.m. on the morning of June 12, 2003 [R. 4739]. Uebelacker did not know if the defendant had been up all night long. The defendant was brought in wearing only his boxer shorts and he did not even have any shoes on [R. 4740-41]. The defendant complained about the uncomfortableness of his cuffs [R. 4741].

The defendant had been secretly tape recorded on a previous occasion. The defendant was placed in a holding cell near his co-defendants, Eaglin and Jones.

Agent Uebelacker listened to the tapes. The defendant complained about his living conditions and treatment on Q-wing [R. 4741-42].

The defendant said that he was not given toilet paper, was not given enough clothes, all he had was boxer shorts, he did not have a blanket or a mattress, and he was being fed infrequently [R. 4742]. Correctional officers told the defendant that they were waiting for the defendant to snap so they could take some sort of action against him. Correctional officers put handcuffs on the defendant in a special way which caused numbness in the shoulders and arms [R. 4743].

Agent Uebelacker said that after he listened to the defendant and his codefendants complain about all of this he contacted the Prison Inspector's Office so that the complaints could be investigated [R. 4746].

Co-defendant Dwight T. Eaglin testified that after the escape attempt he was not given a mattress and had to wear the same pair of boxer shorts for 34 days. He was not given soap or toothpaste. He was not properly given toilet paper. He was not given eating utensils. The only thing in his cell was his body and a pair of boxer shorts. He was forced to stand-up and identify himself every 15 minutes 24 hours a day. He could not sleep [R. 4751-53].

Defense counsel argued that the defendant's statements were coerced due to the threats and living conditions the defendant endured while he was incarcerated, which included denial of the basic necessities of human dignity. The best verification of this was Agent Uebelacker's own testimony that he took the complaints seriously and reported them to prison officials [R. 4767-70].

The prosecutor argued that the tapes speak for themselves and that the defendant was not coerced in them, and that the defendant should be used to bad living conditions. The defense countered that the threats were not coming from the persons making and observing the defendant's statements, but rather the threats

were coming from DOC officials [R. 4771-72]. The trial court denied the motion to suppress without comment [R. 3866].

THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL

The defense opened with its theory of the case that the murders were the independent act of Dwight T. Eaglin and that their plan was that no one was going to get hurt. The defendant just wanted to escape. Tr. 407. The defense was forced to partially concede guilt due to the trial court's pre-trial rulings.

Correctional Officer Mark Pate testified that he worked at Charlotte

Correctional Institution on June 11, 2003. Tr. 413. At around 10:00 p.m. that night
he received a red alert for zone five. Tr. 415. When he arrived he saw a ladder and
co-defendant Dwight T. Eaglin was standing in-between two fences. Tr. 417.

The defendant and co-defendant Michael Jones were inside the first fence. One of them was on the ladder and the other was next to the ladder. Tr. 417. The defendant and Jones ran back inside when Pare arrived. Eaglin continued trying to climb the next fence. Tr. 417. Pate tried to contact Officer Lathrem, who was working that part of the facility. Tr. 421.

Pate searched for Lathrem and eventually found her lying in a pool of blood in a mop closet. Tr. 423, 425. She had injuries to her head. There was a sledgehammer nearby. Tr. 425-426.

Corrections Officer Robert Williams testified that Eaglin had his shirt off, was agitated and was screaming as he tried to climb the fence which was topped with razor wire. Tr. 459, 485. Williams then went and secured and handcuffed the defendant and Jones. Tr. 461, 475.

Williams then noticed that inmate Charles B. Fuston was injured in a cell. He was holding a rag up to his head. Tr. 462-463. There was a massive amount of blood around him. Tr. 464. He later died of cranial cerebral injuries. Tr. 1017.

Corrections Officer Mary Polisea testified that on the night in question the defendant was in dorm A. It was under construction. The defendant and Jones were inmate plumbers. Tr. 420, 494-495. Inmates Charles B. Fuston, John Beaston and Eaglin were working as welders in the area earlier that day. The defendant and Jones were nearby. Tr. 498, 510, 520.

The defendant and Jones told Polisea that they were working that night. Tr. 500. Officer Lathrem was in that area. Tr. 502. Polisea also noticed ladders nearby. Tr. 505. Corrections Officer Kenneth George testified that he spoke with Officer Lathrem in dorm A around 8:55 p.m. on the night in question. Tr. 536.

Nurse Robert L. Colgan testified that he and other medical personnel responded to an emergency call of an injured officer in dorm A. Tr. 545. Lathrem was lying in a pool of blood and she had no pulse. She had a bad head injury to her right temple. She was rushed to the emergency room. Tr. 549. The roof of her mouth and her whole face was caved. Her teeth were split apart. Tr. 550-551.

The medical examiner testified that Officer Lathrem would have lost consciousness immediately with the blow to the right side of her head. However, she would not have lost consciousness with the blow to the front of her head. Tr. 1020-1021. The medical examiner could not tell which blow came first. Tr. 1019-2020.

Officer Lathrem was never conscious and never had any respirations. Tr. 552. Nurse Colgan said Lathrem was dead before they even opened up the closet. Tr. 552, 773. Officer Lathrem's blood was found on Eaglin's pants. Tr. 1074-1075.

Nurse Marsha Denardo testified that she responded to inmate Fuston on the night in question and he was lying on the floor and was extremely seriously injured. He was full of blood, there was blood all over, and his head was cracked open. Tr. 647-658. He had a whole in the center of his forehead. Tr. 660.

Inmate Kenneth Lykins testified that he worked with the defendant on the plumbing crew and that he heard the defendant talking about escaping. Tr. 585, 590. The defendant said he was going to try before the construction project ended and that he was going to take co-defendant Michael Jones with him. Tr. 593.

Lykins then overheard the defendant and Jones talking about going over the fence with a ladder, and that Eaglin was also going to go with them. Tr. 595.

Eaglin was going to hop the fence, hide in the ditch until the gun truck drove by, and then he would hit the driver through his open window with a sledgehammer.

Tr. 596-597. The defendant wanted to try to escape when there was a female officer supervising them. Tr. 603.

The prosecutor then asked Lykins whether the defendant said he wanted to kill anyone. The defendant said he wanted to kill inmate John Beeston with a sledgehammer because he was a snitch. He also said that he would kill anyone in the building because they would need time to assemble the ladder. Tr. 603-604.

The defendant said that he would rape any female guard and specifically said, "I'm gonna get me a piece of pussy before I leave because if I get out there and die, at least I know I gotta a shotta ass before I left." Tr. 604-605. The defendant's trial attorneys did not object.

Lykins testified that the night before the actual escape he learned that the defendant, Eaglin and Jones would try to escape. They all plotted it together. The defendant told Lykins to stay away from the dorm A area on June 11, 2003 (the night in question). Tr. 605-606.

Corrections Officer Frank Kozdra testified that on the night in question he found inmate Beaston in his cell bleeding from his head. Tr. 733. He had a large area caved in in the center of his forehead and had a swollen right eye. Tr. 757. Beaston was taken out in a wheelchair. Tr. 758. He was alert and oriented. Tr. 778.

Eaglin had attacked Beaston as part of a pre-arranged plan to make it look like Beaston was hurt during their escape, but in actuality Beaston helped the group try to escape. Tr. 1159-1160. Law enforcement could not discern whether Beaston was a victim or a co-defendant. Tr. 1272.

Inmate Jessie Baker testified that he was on the plumbing squad with the defendant. Tr. 665. The defendant told him about his escape attempt and that he would kill anyone in his way. Jones and Eaglin were present at the time. Tr. 673. The defendant also told him how he was going to use a ladder to do it. Tr. 675.

Corrections Officer Andrew Ciofani testified that on the night in question he saw the defendant, Eaglin and Jones sitting at a table with the pieces of material that were later assembled into a ladder and used in the escape attempt. Tr. 711.

FDLE Agent Steve Uebelacker testified that the defendant made four different statements to him admitting his participation in the escape. Tr. 1106-1108. The first three were audio recorded and the fourth was videotaped. Tr. 1111. The recordings were played to the jury.

The defense did not object to the recordings being admitted into evidence.

Tr. 1113-1116. The defendant told Jones to open inmate Fuston's cell door and

Eaglin went in with his sledgehammer and hit him. Tr. 1130-1132.

The defendant then wanted to lock Officer Lathrem in the mop closet. Tr. 1142. Eaglin showered off after his attack on inmate Fuston. Tr. 1142-1143. The defendant and Jones got Lathrem to open up the mop closet. Eaglin hid nearby when she was opening the door. Eaglin came out and hit her with the sledgehammer. Tr. 1143-1148.

Significantly, the defendant said, "what the fuck did you do that for," referring to Eaglin's attack on Lathrem. Tr. 1152. Eaglin then pulled her into the closet. Tr. 1163. They did not have a plan to kill her. Tr. 1186-1188.

The State rested. Tr. 1285. The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal arguing that there was insufficient evidence of premeditation. As for the felony murder part of the charges, the State failed to prove that the defendant was lawfully incarcerated and that he was serving a lawful prison sentence. There was

no evidence submitted that the defendant was previously convicted of a crime. Tr. 1286-1288.

The defense also argued that the State also failed to prove that the defendant resisted an officer with violence, as the other part of the felony murder charge. Tr. 1286-1288. The trial court denied the motion. Tr. 1296. The defense rested without presenting any witnesses. Tr. 1297-1298. The defense renewed is motion for judgment of acquittal, which was denied. Tr. 1318.

In closing argument the defense argued that the defendant only wanted to escape and that he did plan, want, or intend for Officer Lathrem to die. The defendant planned to escape, but he did not plan on killing anyone. The murder was the independent act of Eaglin. Tr. 1319-1333.

The State acknowledged in closing that Eaglin killed Lathrem. Tr. 1347.

The prosecutor also argued that the defendant was going to get a piece of you know what out of the female officer and if he died he wanted to be in that position.

Tr. 1354. The prosecutor repeatedly argued that all of this was the defendant's plan. Tr. 1352-1353, 1360-1361.

The jury returned a finding of guilt. Tr. 1392- 1393. Specifically, the jury found that the defendant committed first degree premeditated murder, that it was a

felony murder committed during an escape, and that it was a felony murder committed while resisting an officer with violence [R. 3852].

THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL

The State sought to prove five different statutory aggravating factors for imposition of the death penalty. Sr. 9-11, 26-27. See Fla. Stat. § 921.141(5). The aggravating factors are:

- (1) the crime at issue was committed after a previous conviction of a felony and under a sentence of imprisonment;
- (2) the defendant was previously convicted of another capital offense or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person;
- (3) the crime at issue was committed for the purpose of affecting an escape from custody;
- (4) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification;
- (5) the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of the officer's official duties.

The following was adduced at the penalty phase hearing: The State introduced into evidence the defendant's March 9, 1990 convictions for first degree murder, armed burglary with an assault, and armed robbery. Sr. 46-47. The defendant broke into a home with the intent to rob it thinking that no one was home. He killed a woman in the home. Sr. 74-80.

On another occasion the defendant broke into a residence and sexually battered a 12 year-old girl at gun point. Sr. 115-119. The defendant was also convicted of raping his sister where they lived in Rhode Island. Sr. 134-138. The defendant was serving a life sentence in Florida. Sr. 205.

Before trial the defense filed a motion in limine arguing that there should be no reference to the defendant's prior penalty phase [R. 84]. The motion was granted but the prosecutor elicited this testimony. The prosecutor who prosecuted the defendant's prior case mentioned that the defendant faced a prior penalty phase. Sr. 88.

The defense objected and moved for a mistrial, arguing that letting the jury know that the defendant already had one shot at this was grossly prejudicial. The trial court denied the motion for a mistrial. Sr. 88-96.

The medical examiner testified that Officer Lathrem did not see the attack coming and she had no defensive wounds. The blows she received would have rendered her unconscious upon impact. Sr. 209.

The defense presented the video depositions of several witnesses from the defendant's home state, Rhode Island. Joseph Houlihan testified that the defendant grew up in a government subsidized housing project in Newport, Rhode Island. Sr. 225. The defendant's father was a heavy drinker and was very confrontational when he was a child. Sr. 228. Social Services had to come to the home. The Smith household had a reputation for incest. Sr. 230.

When the defendant's father grew up he was drunk all of the time. He was obnoxious and had something to say to everyone who walked by. He was known as a violent man who was well known to the Newport police. Sr. 238, 246. The defendant's brother was convicted of murder for raping and killing his step-daughter. Sr. 239, 244, 264.

The defendant was in the Rhode Island Training School, which was rough like prison, when he was a juvenile in 1973. Sr. 253-254. The defendant was sent to Avalon School in the mid-1970's, a private psychiatric hospital because he needed serious help. Sr. 259-260.

The defendant's brother was deposed while in prison. The defendant's brother was always institutionalized growing up. Sr. 269-270. The defendant had one brother and five sisters. Sr. 270. The defendant's father was very violent and he would get drunk and hit the defendant every day. He would hit the defendant with a closed fist. The father would abuse all of the children and the defendant's mother. The defendant would take the brunt of the abuse. Sr. 270-272.

On one occasion the father threw the mother to the ground and made her give him a blow job. He grabbed her by the head and said "suck this, bitch." Sr. 274-276. The mother never protected the children and she was beaten too. Sr. 281. On another occasion the father threw a knife at the defendant and hit him in the ankle. Sr. 292.

The defendant drank and smoked marijuana when he was little. Sr. 309. The defendant had a romantic love affair with his Aunt Anna, his mother's sister. He got her pregnant. Sr. 310-312. He also officially married her. Sr. 795.

Prison expert Lance Henderson and testified about all of the failures of the Department of Corrections that led to the vulnerability of Officer Lathrem. Sr. 383-394. Daryl McCasland from the Florida Department of Corrections Office of Inspector General relayed DOC deficiencies on the night in question. Sr. 404-427. Lathrem had inadequately supervised inmates in the past. Sr. 565.

Ernie Smith testified that he is the defendant's uncle. Sr. 433. The defendant used to drink a lot and he was abused by his father. Sr. 441-442. The defendant did not do well in school due to the abuse he suffered. Sr. 445. The defendant grew up hard, learned to fight and his feelings became tight because of all of the alcohol. Sr. 449-450.

Oryann Lima a caseworker from the Rhode Island Department of Children & Families testified that she had contact with the defendant's family at least twice a month. Sr. 464-465. The mother did nothing to ensure that the defendant went to school. She was withdrawn and gave the appearance of one who carries a heavy burden who has lived in fear for a long time. She did not participate in many activities with her children. Sr. 469.

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