### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEPHEN SMITH,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-1903 Lower Tribunal No. 03-1526F

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910

Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Appellant's claim that the trial court failed to make requisite factual findings when denying his motion to suppress is procedurally barred, as defense counsel never requested additional findings by the court below or asserted that such findings were constitutionally necessary. In addition, the claim is without merit as due process does not require a trial court to make factual findings when denying a motion to suppress. Furthermore, in this case, the trial court recited factual findings into the record prior to admitting Smith's statements into evidence.
- II. Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is not cognizable on direct appeal. Trial counsel filed a pre-trial motion to suppress and was not required to make a contemporaneous objection in order to preserve the issue for review.
- III. Similarly, Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's introduction of evidence that Appellant indicated a desire to rape a female prison guard during the escape is not cognizable on direct appeal. Appellant has not shown deficient performance or prejudice.

- IV. Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel is not cognizable on direct appeal. Even if this Court were to consider this claim, Appellant has failed to establish either deficient performance or prejudice. counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal and made numerous arguments in support of said motion. The fact that trial counsel did not raise the meritless claim that Appellant now does not establish deficient asserts performance. Furthermore, Appellant was not prejudiced because, even had Appellant raised the issue, the motion would have been denied.
- V. The evidence is sufficient to support Appellant's conviction for first degree premeditated murder under the principal theory. Appellant planned the escape from Charlotte Correctional Institution for a lengthy period of time and told other inmates that he planned to kill the supervising correctional officer so that the officer could not alert anyone to the escape attempt. Once the escape plans had been set in place and codefendant Eaglin had killed another inmate with a sledgehammer, Appellant led the correctional officer to a mop closet so that Eaglin could sneak up on her with the sledgehammer and inflict the fatal blows.
  - VI. Even if this Court were to find that the evidence

insufficient to support premeditation, there the evidence question that was sufficient to support Appellant's conviction for first degree felony murder based on the underlying felonies of escape and resisting an officer Contrary to Appellant's with violence. assertion, was sufficient to support the felony murder conviction based on escape because Appellant was lawfully confined at Charlotte Correctional Institution. Additionally, Appellant resisted the correctional officer's lawful duty to prevent escapes by participating in her murder and stealing her keys and radio.

VII. This claim is procedurally barred, as the defense below never asserted that the State was taking an inconsistent position in violation of due process. Moreover, Smith has not presented a sufficient record for consideration of this issue, since the Eaglin trial record is not before the Court. Even if considered, the claim must be denied because the record refutes Smith's allegation of a due process violation.

VIII. The trial court acted within its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial after a witness inadvertently mentioned a prior penalty phase proceeding which Appellant had been subjected to as a result of his prior

murder conviction. The testimony was inadvertent and minimal.

Even if the court erred, the error was harmless.

- IX. The trial court properly weighed the aggravating and mitigating factors in this case and Appellant's argument that the court improperly balanced the aggravating factors against the mitigation evidence is without merit. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, his mitigation evidence is not so overwhelming so as to be dispositive; thereby preventing him from being eligible for the death penalty.
- X. Appellant's death sentence is proportionate to other death cases. Appellant was serving multiple life sentences in prison when he planned an escape, including killing any guard that interfered with his plans. The court found five weighty aggravators and properly concluded that the aggravation outweighed Appellant's nonstatutory mitigation.
- XI. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's special jury instruction on mitigating factors. The court properly instructed the jury with the "catch-all" instruction.
- XII. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to reassert his pre-trial motion challenging the State's lethal injection procedure. Counsel was not deficient and Appellant

cannot establish prejudice for failing to renew a motion that lacks merit.

XIII. Appellant's claim that Florida's lethal injection procedure violates the separation of powers doctrine has not been preserved for appellate review. Even if Appellant had preserved the issue, this Court rejected the instant claim in Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006).

XIV. Appellant's argument that Florida's capital sentencing scheme violates due process and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), is without merit and has repeatedly been rejected by this Court.

XV. Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on their advisory role is procedurally barred as the claim was not preserved below. During defense counsel's penalty phase closing argument, counsel made improper arguments concerning the jury's role as sentencer and the trial court properly sustained the prosecuting attorney's objection. Thereafter, the court gave a curative instruction that mirrored Florida's standard jury instruction which fully advised the jury of the importance of its role. The court's instruction did not unconstitutionally denigrate the jury's role.

XVI. Appellant's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim is not cognizable on direct appeal. Furthermore, the claim lacks merit as this Court has found that Florida's clemency process does not violate the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions.

XVII. Because Appellant has failed to demonstrate any individual errors, his cumulative error argument must fail.

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SMITH'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS?

Smith's first issue asserts that the trial court violated his constitutional right to due process by failing to provide factual findings and legal conclusions in denying Smith's motion to suppress. However, this issue was never presented to the court below, and is therefore procedurally barred and beyond the scope of this Court's appellate consideration.

Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978) (contemporaneous objection required to preserve appellate argument for review).

The record reflects that Smith filed numerous motions to suppress statements he made while in state custody (V10:1896-1955; V13:2428-29; V19:1383-86; V20:3795-96). The particular motion discussed in Smith's brief alleged that Smith's formal, recorded statements to FDLE Agent Uebelacker on June 12, June 23, June 27, and July 31, 2003, should be suppressed as involuntary due to the conditions present when Smith was transferred to the Q-wing at Florida State Prison on June 12, 2003. (V10:1896-1955; V19:1383-86; V24:4556). Evidence and argument regarding that motion were entertained by the trial

court prior to trial, at a hearing on Friday, June 16, 2006. (V24-25:4553-4761). Some of the evidence was offered in the form of DVD tapes, typed transcripts, and depositions, which the parties agreed could be reviewed by the court over the weekend prior to the start of the trial on Monday, June 19, 2006. (V24:4553-58). On Monday morning, Judge Blackwell announced that he had reviewed the additional evidence and was denying the motion to suppress. (V27:3). On June 26, 2006, a written Order was rendered, denying the motion to suppress Smith's statements to Uebelacker. (V20:3866). Prior to the admission of the statements, the trial court recited its findings and reasons for denying the motion on the record (V34:1078-80).

Another motion to suppress was filed on June 20, 2005, challenging the admission of statements which Smith made to co-defendants Eaglin and Jones on June 23, 2003, which were surreptitiously recorded by law enforcement. (V20:3795-96). This motion was heard and denied at the June 16, 2006 pretrial hearing. (V24:4530-37). The State did not introduce any evidence regarding these statements at trial. Additionally, Smith filed another motion to suppress on August 11, 2005, requesting suppression of statements Smith made to Detective

Drouse. (V13:2428-29). There is no indication in the record that this motion was ever litigated; Detective Drouse did not testify and the statements were not offered at trial.

At no time, in any written motion or any legal argument thereon, did Smith suggest to Judge Blackwell that the lower court had a constitutional duty to enter specific factual findings and legal conclusions in ruling on any of the motions to suppress. Thus, that argument, now asserted on appeal for the first time, must be rejected as procedurally barred.

Even if the claim is considered, Smith cannot establish any error. There is no authority for his assertion that specific factual findings are constitutionally mandated in this instance. Furthermore, the court below did recite specific findings into the record. (V34:1079-80). Therefore, no new trial is warranted on this issue.<sup>22</sup>

Smith asserts that both state and federal due process clauses require trial courts to make specific factual findings

 $<sup>^{22} \</sup>rm{In}$  discussing the appropriate standard of review to a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress, this Court has stated that "appellate courts should continue to accord a presumption of correctness to the trial court's rulings on motions to suppress with regard to the trial court's determination of historical facts, but appellate courts must independently review mixed questions of law and fact." Globe v. State, 877 So. 2d 663, 668-69 (Fla. 2004) (citations omitted).

and legal conclusions, citing Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 357 (1977), Monge v. California, 524 U.S. 721 (1998), and Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980). None of these cases support his argument. In Gardner, the Court found that due process was violated by the trial court's consideration of information contained in a presentence report which had not been disclosed to the defense. The Gardner Court noted in passing that due process also required that the full document be available in the record on appeal in order to ensure meaningful appellate review. In Monge, the Court held that the double jeopardy clause did not preclude a retrial of a prior conviction used to enhance a non-capital sentence. The Monge Court recognized that double jeopardy would preclude such a retrial for purposes of capital sentencing, explained why capital cases warrant heightened due process and additional scrutiny than other criminal cases. In Beck, the Court determined that Alabama's death penalty scheme violated due process by prohibiting a jury instruction on Again, the Beck Court acknowledged a higher standard for review of death penalty cases.

Thus, it appears that these cases are noted only for the recognition that "death is different," and not for the

proposition for which they are cited, the assertion that "[t]he federal right to due process of law requires specific findings of facts and conclusions of law by the trial court" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 22). In fact, Smith does not cite any cases which support this broad assertion or are factually comparable to the case at hand. Moreover, the cases which recognize that due process may be heightened because death is different refer to the sentencing process, and do not implicate the pretrial consideration of a motion to suppress. Since the elevated due process is a component of prohibition against cruel or unusual punishment, these cases should not be read as establishing a higher standard for trial court rulings on quilt phase issues. See Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 329 (1985) ("under the Eighth Amendment the qualitative difference of death from all other punishments requires a correspondingly greater degree of scrutiny of the capital sentencing determination," quoting California v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 998-99 (1983) [emphasis added]). The United States Supreme Court has expressly acknowledged that a state court is not required to explain its reasons for denying relief. Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1041 (1983) ("As this Court has recognized, 'requiring state

courts to clarify their decisions to the satisfaction of this Court' is both 'unsatisfactory and intrusive'").

Smith next argues that the Florida Constitution provides the United due process protection than States While that has been noted in particular Constitution. circumstances, it does not provide authority for contention in this case that his trial court erred by failing to make factual findings which were not requested below and which no court has ever deemed to be constitutionally necessary. Clearly, none of the cases cited for this proposition suggest that specific factual findings must be articulated by the trial court when ruling on a motion to suppress. See Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957, 961-66 (Fla. 1992); Hlad v. State, 585 So. 2d 928, 932 (Fla. 1991); Brown v. State, 484 So. 2d 1324, 1328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); M.E.K. v. R.L.K., 921 So. 2d 787, 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). Smith has offered no reason to hold that the Florida Constitution provides any due process protection beyond that granted in its federal counterpart in this regard. See Troy v. State, 948 So. 2d 635, 645 (Fla. 2006) (finding no basis to conclude that Florida Constitution provides more due process protection than U.S. Constitution with regard to voluntary intoxication

defense).

According to Smith, specific findings are necessary in order to insure meaningful appellate review. He submits that a remand is necessary any time the trial court fails to provide factual and credibility findings when ruling on a motion to suppress, citing <a href="State v. Moore">State v. Moore</a>, 791 So. 2d 1246, 1250 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). Neither <a href="Moore">Moore</a> nor <a href="State v. Shaw</a>, 784 So. 2d 529, 533 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), a similar state appeal from an order granting suppression which was remanded for specific findings, suggest an absolute rule requiring findings in all cases. Certainly appellate courts have authority to remand for findings when necessary to resolve an issue on appeal; courts need not invoke such authority if findings were already constitutionally mandated.

Finally, Smith's reliance on Mendoza v. State, 964 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2007), and Collucci v. Department of HRS, 664 So. 2d 1142, 1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (requiring findings for termination of parental rights), is misplaced. In Mendoza, where this Court remanded for specific findings in an order denying postconviction relief sought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, this Court noted that Rule 3.851 required such findings, and did not hold that such findings

were constitutionally necessary. In <u>Collucci</u>, a trial court had terminated the appellant's parental rights upon finding that appellant had failed to comply with the requirements of a performance agreement. Noting that this failure could not, in and of itself, provide a basis for the termination, the district court of appeal remanded for additional findings. The due process concern involved the State's failure to prove an essential element required for termination of parental rights, not the trial court's failure to recite findings to support a discretionary evidentiary ruling. Although these cases, like others, required trial judges to make particular findings, there is no case which raises that requirement to constitutional dimensions.

Moreover, the trial judge in this case provided the necessary findings for this Court's consideration of the suppression issue. Prior to admitting Smith's statements through Agent Uebelacker, the trial court recited his relevant findings for the record:

THE COURT: All right. Be seated everyone. At the beginning of the trial Monday I announced that I had reviewed all of the materials that were admitted into evidence for -- on last Friday's hearing for various motions, including the defendant's motion to suppress certain statements the defendant made in the presence of Mr. Uebelacker and Mr. Rhodes. I did review all of those. I looked at the DVD over the weekend. I read all the transcripts of

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